DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

I. IDENTITY OF MOVING PARTY: 

COMES NOW, James Barstad, Petitioner In Pro Per, 

seeKing the releif designated in Part II, herein below 

II. STATEMENT OF RELIEF SOUGHT: 

Petitioner Barstad seeks discretionary review of the 

Division Two Court of Appeal~ Unpublished Opinion, 

dismissing Petitioner's appeal of a Public Records Act (PRA) 

suit, in CDA No 47669-0-II Copy of the Opinion is attached 

herein as Exhibit ''A" 

III. RELEVANT FACTS: 
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Peti tL:Jner incorporates the Facts presented in the 

Unpublish~d Opinion (See Exhibit 'A ) , as if fully 

reproduced heruin 

IV. GROUNDS FOR RELIEF AND ARGUMENT: 

The Court of Appeals Opinion is in error as their 

decision (and the State's argument) is n:Jt in line with the 

Legislative intent of the PRA "The PRA begins with a 

mandate of full disclosure of public records .. '' Progressive 

Animal Welfare Soc'y v University of Washington 12~ Wn 2d 

243, 358, 885 P 2d 592 (1994). Further, 11 We liberallY 

construe the PRA in favor of disclosure and narrowly 

construe its examptians ·' RCW 42 56 030 

The State also argued that since the Public Recora 

sought did not exist at the time of the original request 

11 [T]here was no agency action to review because tile 

rec:Jro he sought 'did not exist, ' 11 Building Indus Ass'n of 

Wash v McCarthy ( BIAW) , 1 52 Wn App 'Ai:)2, i j4 c.. 1 e P 3d 

(2009) This Division Two Court of Appeals case law is also 

in error 

If the Preservation and Destruction of Public Records 

Act of l'.:w 40,14 et seq. were enacted by the Legislature as 

11 necessary far the immediate preservation of the public 

peace, health, and safety, the support of the state 

government and its existing public institutions, and shall 

take effect July 1 , 1 9d1 [ 1 ~; tJ1 c 115 § 1 0] , it does not 
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follow that this Act was intended by the Legisalture to be 

taken lightly The State has informed the court that 

11 willful violations of RCW 40 14 subject a person to 

criminal prosecution ., It is nonsensical to assume that RCW 

40 14 et.seq should n~t be floowed hy the DOC 

The Act of R~W 40 14 was in full force and effect at 

the time of the original rc.:qll2~> 1: for Public Records The 

Retention Schedule that was implememnted for the DOC to 

follow was ignoreo Thus, and tne State has ceded, a 

criminal act nas occurred Had the DOC followed the Act and 

Retention Schedules (See Exhibit 11 8 11 ) that were in full 

forcwe and effect, the record woulc.: r~<ve :1eer1 present. and 

we would not oe trying this present case 

While it is true that in Daines v Spokane County, 111 

Wn App 342, 350, 4~ P 3d 909 (2DU2). tne court held that "no 

civil remedy is avavilable for pre;nature destruction of a 

document under RCW 40 14, this case is also in error, as it 

daes not meet the Legislative intent of the PRA, wherein 

they have stated the PRA "requires every goverment agency to 

disclose any public record upn:::J request, unless an 

enumerated exemption applies " RCwA 42 56 070 (1) There was 

no applicable exemption in the present case 

A party prevaiLs under this st:atute [PRA j if the 

rec.:;rc:L should have neen disclosed upon request ' Spokane 

Research & Defense Fund v City of Spokane, 225 Wn 2d 89, 
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102, 117 P 3d 1117 ( 2005), and 1'Penalties for late 

disclosure are mandatory 11 1E_ at ( *16). The record sough 

should have oeen disclosed It was not due to be destroyed 

for an~~n:r eighteen months after the request was made The 

willfu~ earl} destruction was a criminal act, which shows 

bad faith and circumvents the PRA and the legislature's 

intent of its enaction 

The State's argument that RCW 40 14 is not incorporated 

in RCW 42 55 also cannot hold, as RCW 42 56 030 explictly 

states, ''In the event of conflict between the provisiom; of 

tlus chapter .;nd any other act, the provisions of this 

cha;Jter shd l govern ' Any other act :nus t include the 

Pr2servation anj De;3truction Act ':J~ ', 0 14' d.li :ha r.:::terTtion 

Schedul2 that follow= from that We can circular argue the 

situations all we want 

29: 

Webster s I~ New College Dictionary (3rd ed 2JD5), pg 

all (adj ), 1 The total entirety or extent of <all the 
West> 2 The whole number, amount or quantity of <all 
the guests> ~ The utmus~ ~ossiule of <in all honesty>. 
4 Every <all manner of trouble> 5 Any whatsoever 
<beyond all question> 6 Nothing but: ONLY <all hair and 
teeth> (pron ) 1 Each and every one <all were lost> 2 
The whole number: TOTALITY <all of them> ( adv ) 1 
Wholly: entirely <all confused>. 2 each: apiece <the 
score was seven all> 3 exclusively <the mail is all for 
me> 

Webster's Dictionary. 

The Supreme Court reviews questions of statutory 

interpretation de novo State v Wentz, 149 Wn 2d 342, 346, 
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68 P 3d 282 ( 2003) (citing Pasco v Pub Emp 1 t Relations 

Comm'n, 119 wn 2d 504, 507, 833 P 2d 381 (1992) 

Statutory interpretation is a matter os law that we 

review de navo Jametsky v Olsen 179 Wn 2d 756 761, 317 

p 3d 1003 (2014) The primary goal of statutory 

interpretation is to determine and give effect to the 

legislative intent Jametsky, 179 Wn 2d at 762, 317 P 3d 

1003 (2014) To determine legislative intent, we look to the 

plain language of the statute Id We consider the language 

of the provision in question, the context of the statute in 

which the provisio~ is found and related statutes Lowy v 

Peacehealth, 174 Wn 2d 769, 779, 280 P 3d 1078 (2012) When 

the statute at issue or a relates statute includes an 

applicable statement of purpose, the statute should be read 

in a manner consistent with the statute See, Protect the 

Peninsula's Future v Growth Mgmnt Hr'gs Bd , 185 Wn App 

959, 969-70, 344 p 3d 705 (2015) 

If the plain meaning of the statute is unambiguous, we 

must apply that plain meaning as an expression of 

legislative intent without considering extrinsic sources 

Jametsky, 179 Wn 2d at 769, 317 P 3d 1003 (2014) We do not 

r~write unambiguous statutory language under the guise of 

interpretation Carillo v Esparza, 158 Wn 2d 194, ~~1, 142 

p 3d 155 (2006) And we do not add language to an 

unambiguous statute even if we believe the legislature 
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'
1 intended something else but did not adequately express it '' 

Kilian v Atkinson, 147 Wn 2d 16, 20, SO P 3d 638 (2002) 

The PRA is unambiguous The legblature intend,:=d the 

PRA to incorporate RCW 40 14, the Preservatio:1 and 

Destruction of Public Records Act The express language of 

RCW 42 56 030 states this To presume that a violation of 

RCW 40 14 will n::Jt also violate the PRA is to re~L~ri te 

unamoiguou~ statutory language under the guise of 

interpretation" and to 11 add lenguage" where the legislature 

did, in fact, 11 adequately express" their intention 

If a statute is unambiguous (while NOT the case here), 

courts may Hresort to statutory construction, legislative 

history, and relevant case law for assistance in discovering 

legisal tive intent 11 Christensen v Ellsworth, 162 Wn 2d 

365, 373, 173 p 3d 228 (2007) A statute is ambiguous if it 

can reasonably be interpreted in two or more ways, but it is 

not ambiguous simply because different interpretations are 

conceivable Berger v Sonne land, 144 Wn .:::d 91 , 1 05, 26 

p 3d 257 (2001) 

'The [PRI-IJ is a c;tn 

~;u.lllC records Hearst Corp v Hoppe, 9J 

Uln 2a 123 127, 580 P 2a 546 (1978) We liberally contstrue 

the PrtA in favor of aisclosure and narrowly construe its 

exemptions." RCW 42 56 03U A Retention Schedule was in 

effect, but n~t followed resulting in a criminal act In 
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West v Washington Dept of Natural Resources, 163 Wn App 

235, 258 P 3d 78 (2ui1J h~ argued that if the Court would 

not enforce RCW 40 14, government agencies would use this 

loophole to circumvent the PRA That is exactly what has 

occurred in the present case, and is diamettrically opposed 

to the express intention of the Legislature regarding public 

records and transparency in yovarnmantal opsrations. All the 

cases cited by the Court of Ap;Jeals in support of their 

Opinion have originated from that same court As they are 

all in error, this Court needs to submit their Opinion to 

scrutiny and correction 

V. CONCLUSION: 

Based u~on the facts and arguments prss3nt~j herein, 

Petitioner Barstad requests this Court review ~he Opinion of 

the Division T~o Court of .£\ppeals