RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Dec 30, 2015, 3:25 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

NO. 92496-1

E

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JAMES BARSTAD,

Appellant,

v.

WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS,

Respondent.

DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

HALEY BEACH Assistant Attorney General WSBA #44731 Corrections Division P.O. Box 40116 Olympia, WA 98504-0116 (360) 586-1445 OID #91025

I. INTRODUCTION

Mr. Barstad petitions for discretionary review of the Court of Appeals' affirmance of the trial court's dismissal of his Public Records Act (PRA) complaint. Mr. Barstad requested a record that the parties agree did not exist at the time of his request. The requested record was a transitory memorandum listing the inmates subject to sanction on a particular day. Prison staff created the memorandum by copying information contained in official records, which are required to be retained by the Department of Corrections. The daily memorandum was destroyed and an updated memorandum was posted for prison staff each day. Because the memorandum was destroyed when no longer needed, it did not exist when Mr. Barstad made his public records request.

This Court and the Court of Appeals consistently have held that the Public Records Act does not require an agency to produce a record that does not exist. The courts have held that retention concerns do not provide a cause of action under the Public Records Act. There is no public interest in review of this well-settled issue. Even if a public records claim could be brought to challenge a records retention issue, this case would not raise an issue meriting review. Destruction of a transitory memorandum, created by copying information from documents that are retained by the agency, is specifically permitted by RCW 40.14.060, the

State records retention schedule, and the approved records retention schedule of the Department of Corrections. The Court previously declined to review this case and should do so again.

II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

This Court should deny review because this matter does not meet any of the RAP 13.4(b) criteria. However, if the Court were to accept discretionary review, the following issues would be presented:

- 1. When a document has been destroyed pursuant to the State Records Retention Schedule and RCW 40, and therefore does not exist when an agency receives a public records request, is there a cause of action under the Public Records Act?
- 2. Under RCW 40.14.060, agency records may be destroyed if destruction is permitted by an approved records retention schedule. The State records retention schedule allows destruction of records that are secondary copies of information retained in primary documents. Did the Department of Corrections properly destroy a daily sanction memorandum created by copying information from infraction and hearing lists that are retained for years?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Barstad made a Public Records Request on April 27, 2013, requesting "copies of all Disciplinary Sanction Lists issued during October

and November of the year 2012, at the MONROE CORRECTIONAL COMPLEX." CP 48. The Department of Corrections ("Department") responded to the request within five business days. CP 50. The Department then sent Mr. Barstad an invoice for the request, and subsequently mailed a disk containing the disciplinary records to Mr. Barstad at the Monroe Correctional Complex. CP 52-55.

After reviewing the documents, Mr. Barstad sent a follow-up letter to the Department requesting "Sanction Lists from the [Washington State Reformatory Unit] Section of [the Monroe Correctional Complex]." CP 57. The Department sent a second disk with responsive records to Mr. Barstad at the Monroe Correctional Complex. CP 63. The prison mailroom determined that there was information on the second disk regarding other inmates that could not be provided to Mr. Barstad. CP 65. Because the disk could not be provided to Mr. Barstad, it was sent to a third party designated by Mr. Barstad. CP 68. Mr. Barstad informed the Department that he had not received the second disk, and requested that the Department provide him "the one Disciplinary Sanction List containing [Mr. Barstad's] name." CP 65-66.

On January 28, 2014, Mr. Barstad sent a letter to the Department advising that the second set of responsive documents it had provided did not contain the specific record he wanted. CP 68. He further clarified to

the Department that the document he had been describing in his previous correspondence was, specifically, "a memo to: 'ALL STAFF' from 'SGT'S KNOX / DOPSON' and the subject: 'A/B UNITS Disciplinary Sanction List," dated October 27, 2012. CP 68. Mr. Barstad was referring to the transitory memorandum that was posted each day in the cell block to remind correctional officers which inmates were being sanctioned that day for disciplinary infractions. CP 74-75.

The transitory memorandum Mr. Barstad requested was made each day by copying information from disciplinary infraction and hearing records. CP 75. A new memorandum was posted on the cell block each day. CP 75. The transitory memorandum from the prior day was destroyed when a new memorandum was posted the next day. The Department of Corrections Records Retention Schedule requires the Department to retain for two years the infraction documents and hearing records used to create the daily memorandum. Dep't Rec. Ret. Sch. 1.1 at 27. Because the daily memorandum copied information retained in the primary disciplinary infraction and hearing records, the daily memoranda were discarded each day, pursuant to the State's General Records Retention Schedule. State Rec. Ret. Sch. at 96 (records with minimal

¹ The Department of Corrections Records Retention Schedule is available at http://www.sos.wa.gov/_assets/archives/RecordsManagement/Department-of-Corrections-Records-Retention-Schedule-v.1.1-Dec-2013.pdf.

retention value to be destroyed when no longer needed, including secondary copies of information retained in primary records).²

After receiving Mr. Barstad's request for the particular transitory memorandum, the Department conducted a search and found that the requested memorandum had been previously destroyed under the retention schedule. CP 72, 74-75. Because the memorandum no longer existed at the time of Mr. Barstad's request, it was not among the responsive documents the Department had provided.

Mr. Barstad filed an action alleging that the Department should have retained the daily memorandum from October 27, 2012. CP 2-8. Mr. Barstad concedes that the record did not exist at the time of his request. The Department responded that it had not violated its retention policies because the document Mr. Barstad requested was a transitory memorandum that was properly destroyed. CP 35-41. The Department pointed out that an alleged RCW 40.14 violation does not constitute a cause of action under RCW 42.56. The superior court dismissed Mr. Barstad's complaint. CP 91-92.

Mr. Barstad petitioned this Court for direct review of that decision. This Court denied review and transferred the case to the Court of Appeals. The Court of Appeals affirmed the superior court's

² The State Government General Records Retention Schedule is available at http://www.sos.wa.gov/ assets/archives/RecordsManagement/SGGRRS5.1.pdf.

order granting summary judgment in favor of the Department. Mr. Barstad now seeks this Court's discretionary review of the Court of Appeals' decision. This case does not present any issues that merit review under RAP 13.4(b). The Department requests that this Court again deny review.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. The Court of Appeals' Decision Is Not In Conflict With Any Decisions Of This Court Or The Court Of Appeals Because It Is Well Settled That The Public Records Act Does Not Require Production Of Records That Do Not Exist; This Case Does Not Present A Significant Question Of Constitutional Law

The lower courts' rulings in this case are consistent with the decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals and do not warrant the Court's review. See RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2). Additionally, this case involves only a limited question of statutory interpretation and does not raise a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States. See RAP 13.4(b)(3).

Washington courts repeatedly have held that "[a]n agency has no duty to create or produce a record that is nonexistent." *Gendler v. Batiste*, 174 Wn.2d 244, 252, 274 P.3d 346 (2012) (*en banc*) (quoting *Sperr v. City of Spokane*, 123 Wn. App. 132, 136-37, 96 P.3d 1012 (2004)); *accord West v. Washington State Dep't of Natural Res.*, 163 Wn. App. 235, 242, 258 P.3d 78 (2011). Consistent with this principle,

Division Two of the Court of Appeals repeatedly has rejected the argument that alleged violations of RCW 40.14 should constitute causes of action under the Public Records Act, RCW 42.56. West, 163 Wn. App. at 245; Bldg. Indus. Ass'n of Washington (BIAW) v. McCarthy, 152 Wn. App. 720, 741, 218 P.3d 196 (2009). Simply put, "there [is] no agency action to review under the [PRA] 'where the agency' did not deny the requestor an opportunity to inspect or copy a public record, because the public record he sought 'did not exist." BIAW, 152 Wn. App. at 740 (quoting Sperr, 123 Wn. App. at 137). Division Two's decisions are consistent with those of the other divisions. See Zink v. City of Mesa, 162 Wn. App. 688, 718, 256 P.3d 384 (2011) ("the PRA does not state that an agency's violation of independent statutory duties to prepare records is also a violation of the PRA."). The Court of Appeals' decision in this case acknowledges and adheres to these decisions.

Additionally, the plain language of the PRA supports the lower courts' decisions because the PRA does not incorporate RCW 40.14 and it provides its own records retention obligations. The PRA states "[i]f a public record request is made at a time when such record exists but is scheduled for destruction in the near future, the agency . . . may not destroy or erase the record until the request is resolved." RCW

42.56.100. Notably, this obligation attaches at the time that an agency receives a request. It is undisputed in this case that the record did not exist at the time Mr. Barstad requested it. The PRA does not incorporate RCW 40.14 and does not provide a civil remedy for destruction of a record. Where the Legislature has not provided a private civil remedy, the courts may not create one. *See Griffin v. Eller*, 130 Wn.2d 58, 69, 922 P.2d 788 (1996) (if the Legislature has not provided a statutory remedy, the remedy does not exist).

Moreover, the Legislature has demonstrated that it knows how to provide for penalties in the public records context, and it has modified the PRA penalty scheme. *See, e.g.*, RCW 42.56.565(1). The Legislature has done nothing to expand the PRA penalty scheme in response to the court decisions disallowing penalties for alleged retention violations, despite making other significant changes to the PRA penalty scheme. *See City of Federal Way v. Koenig*, 167 Wn.2d 341, 352, 217 P.3d 1172 (2009) (this Court assumes legislative acquiescence to courts' PRA interpretation where courts had interpreted the PRA and Legislature did not alter statute in response).

The limited statutory issue in this case has been settled by this Court. The Court of Appeals has applied the Court's decision and reasoning uniformly, and the lower courts' decisions here are consistent

with existing jurisprudence and the Public Records Act. Accordingly, this petition does not present an issue meriting Supreme Court review under RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(3).

B. Destruction Of The Daily Memorandum, As Permitted By The State Record Retention Laws And Schedules, Is A Narrow Factual Question That Does Not Involve An Issue Of Substantial Public Interest

This case involves a narrow factual topic only of interest to Mr. Barstad, which makes it unsuitable for this Court's review. The daily memorandum at issue is a transitory document that is discarded each day, as permitted by RCW 40.14.060, the State record retention schedule, and the Department of Corrections Record Retention Schedule. Therefore, the fact-specific question regarding the nature of the memorandum and the requirements of the Public Records Act does not involve a significant issue of substantial public interest that would allow for review by this Court. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(4).

The memorandum at issue is based on underlying documents retained by the Department. Inmates may receive notice of a prison rule infraction which issues a sanction for the violation, or have a hearing at which a sanction is ordered. A daily memorandum listing the inmates subject to sanctions was posted each day to remind the correctional

officers which inmates were subject to sanctions. At the end of the day, the memorandum was no longer needed and was discarded.

This practice complies with RCW 40.14.060, which permits destruction of a document if it is done pursuant to an approved retention schedule. The approved State Records Retention Schedule provides that when a secondary document is created by copying information from primary records, and the primary records are retained as required by an approved retention period, the secondary document should be "retain[ed] until no longer needed for agency business then destroy[ed]." State Rec. Ret. Sch. at 96. Here, the primary documents are the infraction and hearing records, which the Department's approved retention schedule requires it to retain for two years after the end of the calendar year. Dep't Rec. Ret. Sch. 1.1, at 27. The daily memorandum is a secondary document containing only information copied from the infraction and hearing records; therefore, it may be destroyed when it is no longer needed. State Rec. Ret. Sch. at 96.

Because RCW 40.14.060 and the State and Department retention schedules all provide that destruction of the memorandum was appropriate, there is nothing of public import requiring review. Furthermore, because the daily memorandum was properly destroyed and did not exist at the time the records request was made, the petition does

not raise a valid cause of action under the Public Records Act. The Court has no basis for review under RAP 13.4(b).

V. CONCLUSION

This case does not meet the criteria for discretionary review under RAP 13.4(b). Accordingly, The Department requests that this Court deny Mr. Barstad's motion for discretionary review.